FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
3/9/2020 4:40 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/10/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>98248-1</u> (COA No. 51906-2-II)

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

### SOCORRO VELAZQUEZ,

Petitioner.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR LEWIS COUNTY

### PETITION FOR REVIEW

NANCY P. COLLINS Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

##

### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In exchange for Socorro Velazquez's guilty plea, the parties promised to recommend a 68-month sentence, the high end of the standard range. RP 4.¹ Pursuant to this plea agreement, Mr. Velazquez pled guilty to two counts of vehicular assault and one count of hit and run. CP 10. The prosecutor expressly informed the court he was recommending 68 months as agreed. RP 4.

Mr. Velazquez's attorney also told the court that both he and the prosecutor had extensive experience in the criminal justice system and had reached an appropriate agreed resolution. RP 39-40. Defense counsel clarified the record to explain Mr. Velazquez's non-violent criminal history and the lack of any drugs or alcohol involved in the car accident underlying the incident. RP 41-42. He told the court this agreed resolution was fair and should be imposed. RP 44, 43, 45.

Mr. Velazquez said he wanted "to apologize to the victims and say I'm sorry" and he "didn't mean to hurt anybody." RP 45.

Before the court imposed its sentence, several people affected by the vehicular accident spoke at length about the extent of their injuries or the effect of the victim's injuries on their own lives. RP 5-38. Two people were badly injured in the accident and these injuries greatly affected them and their loved ones. *Id*.

The judge said he typically follows agreed sentencing recommendations for people who plead guilty because the prosecution and defense attorneys would know more about the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The verbatim report of proceeding referred to herein is from

case than he did and he trusted their joint recommendations. RP 47. He also said Mr. Velazquez's waiver of his constitutional right to a jury trial significantly benefitted the victims and their families, because trials are difficult for them and can cause "havoc." RP 46-47.

However, the judge imposed an exceptional sentence above the standard range of 120 months, rather than the agreed 68-month high-end standard range sentence recommended. RP 47. The judge said the reason he was imposing this sentence was that he did not think 68 months was "enough to serve justice." RP 47. The judge said he was not sure that even "120 months or 10 years is enough to serve justice," but he wanted to recognize that Mr. Velazquez took "some responsibility" by admitting his guilt and because there was a significant benefit in not having a trial. RP 46.

The court created its 120-month sentence by imposing two consecutive 60-month terms for counts I and III (vehicular assault). RP 47. It also imposed a concurrent 60-month term for

the sentencing hearing on May 8, 2018.

count II, which was the statutory maximum for this count, the class C felony of hit and run. RP 47; RCW 46.52.020(4)(b).

The prosecutor asked the court what legal basis it was using for this exceptional sentence because he needed to prepare findings. RP 49. The court cited RCW 9.94A.535(2)(c), where a high offender score results in some current offenses going unpunished. RP 49. The court said that "without an exceptional sentence," Mr. Velasquez was not being punished "for Count II or Count III, so those would be what we sometimes refer to in the legal field as free crimes." RP 49. The court did not elaborate further other than to say there are "substantial and compelling reasons" to impose an exceptional sentence. RP 49-50.

The facts are further explained in Appellant's Opening Brief, in the relevant factual and argument sections, and are incorporated herein.

### E. ARGUMENT

This Court should address the judge's authority to order an exceptional sentence that grossly exceeds the standard range and rests only on the judge-found fact that the offender score is just above the "9 or more" that marks the top of the range.

1. A court's limited authority to impose a sentence greater than the standard range must comply with the purposes and structure of the SRA.

A court's sentencing authority stems strictly from statute, and is further restricted by the constitutional protections of due process, the right to jury determinations of all factual issues, and the prohibition on cruel punishment. State v. Cawyer, 182 Wn. App. 610, 616, 330 P.3d 219 (2014); see Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296, 124 S. Ct. 2531, 159 L. Ed. 2d 403 (2004); State v. Hunley, 175 Wn.2d 901, 909, 287 P.3d 584 (2012); U.S. Const. amends. VI, VIII, XIV; Const. art. I, §§ 3, 14, 22.

The standard range presumptively governs the sentences imposed for felony under the SRA. State v. Law, 154 Wn.2d 85, 93, 110 P.2d 717 (2005). The SRA presumes current offenses will receive concurrent sentences. RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a). To impose consecutive sentences for current offenses, the court must

comply with the exceptional sentencing provisions of RCW 9.94A.535.

The imposition of standard range sentences presumptively governs felonies because they are based on the legislature's assessment of the appropriate punishment for certain offenses and are adjusted for a person's criminal history. State v. Amo, 76 Wn. App. 129, 133, 882 P.2d 1188 (1994). A judge's belief that the standard range is insufficient punishment is not a basis to depart from the standard range. State v. Pascal, 108 Wn.2d 125, 137-38, 736 P.2d 1065 (1987).

The SRA rests on a legislatively crafted sentencing grid that sets a range of punishment based on the offense and person's criminal history. *State v. Nelson*, 108 Wn.2d 491, 503, 740 P.2d 835 (1987). This grid supplies the standard range. The purpose of this standard range is to restrict judicial discretion so the sentences are proportionate state-wide, unless extraordinary circumstances occur.

To impose a sentence above the standard range, any factual determination justifying this sentence other than a prior conviction must be found by the jury and proven beyond a

reasonable doubt. See State v. Hayes, 182 Wn.2d 556, 562, 342 P.2d 1144 (2015).

2. The court's decision rested on a misapprehension of the standard range and disagreement with it, which are not valid reasons for an exceptional sentence.

The trial court's dissatisfaction with the sentencing structure of the SRA is not a basis for an exceptional sentence. State v. Batista, 116 Wn.2d 777, 789, 808 P.2d 1141 (1991). A court's assessment that the standard range is too lenient is a factual finding that must be made by the jury under the Sixth Amendment and must be tethered to a valid aggravating factor under RCW 9.94A.537. State v. Alvarado, 164 Wn.2d 556, 564, 192 P.3d 345 (2008).

Here, the court said its reason for departing from the SRA was its dissatisfaction with the high end of the standard range, because it believed more punishment should be imposed. RP 46-47. In the rare case where exceptional circumstances are involved that the legislature did not consider, this leniency must be found be the jury. *Alvarado*, 164 Wn.2d at 564.

When pronouncing his sentence, the judge explained he typically followed agreed recommendations because the

experienced lawyers "know the case better than I do," including the "strengths and weaknesses" of the case. RP 47. The judge said agreed recommendations are "extremely important for our legal system." RP 47. But he did not think the agreed recommendation of 68 months was "enough to serve justice," and instead imposed 120 months. RP 47.

The judge further said that even "120 months or 10 years is enough to serve justice," might not be enough to serve justice, but it wanted to recognize that Mr. Velazquez took "some responsibility" by admitting his guilt. RP 46. The judge also acknowledged that Mr. Velasquez's plea benefited the victims and their families, because he had the right to go to trial and it would have been "a much more difficult experience" for the victims and their families if he had not waived his right to a trial. RP 47.

The court did not mention any other reason to impose this exceptional sentence until later, after the prosecutor told the court it needed to prepare factual findings and needed a "basis" to list for this sentence. RP 49.

Because the court's primary motivation for an exceptional sentence was that the standard range was not enough punishment in light of the harm Mr. Velazquez caused by his conduct, the court relied on an impermissible, fact-based, subjective assessment of the case and dissatisfaction with the standard range. *Alvarado*, 164 Wn.2d at 564; *Batista*, 116 Wn.2d at 789.

The prosecution did not seek an exceptional sentence. RP 4. It did not allege or prove any fact-based aggravating factors beyond a reasonable doubt. Neither the Sixth Amendment nor the SRA permit the court to exceed the standard range based on judge's belief the ends of justice merit more punishment than called for by the standard range.

The Court of Appeals affirmed this exceptional sentence solely because the judge ultimately provided a legal basis for the exceptional sentence when he cited the "free crimes" aggravating factor. Slip op. at 4. But the judge misunderstood the application of this aggravating factor to this case, which undermines the factual predicate for departing from the standard range.

3. The court's belated claim that the "free crimes" aggravating factor rested on its misunderstanding of the offender score.

RCW 9.94A.535(2)(c) permits a court to impose an exceptional sentence without jury findings if it finds: (1) "[t]he defendant has committed multiple current offenses and the defendant's high offender score results in some of the current offenses going unpunished"; and (2) "considering the purpose of this chapter [RCW 9.94A], that there are substantial and compelling reasons justifying an exceptional sentence."

When the prosecutor told the court they needed a legal basis for the exceptional sentence, the court cited the "free crimes" aggravating factor of RCW 9.94A.535(2)(c) as the sole reason to exceed the standard range. RP 49.

The court summarily stated that "without an exceptional sentence," Mr. Velasquez was not being punished for *either* "Count II or Count III, so those would be what we sometimes refer to in the legal field as free crimes." RP 49 (emphasis added). But this was an incorrect explanation of Mr. Velazquez's offender score. It is also a misuse of the aggravating factor

involving multiple current offenses going unpunished under RCW 9.94A.535(2)(c).

The legislature designed the maximum offender score to be "9 or more." RCW 9.94A.510.

The court incorrectly claimed Mr. Velazquez was not being punished for either "Count II or Count III" and both offenses were therefore "what we sometimes refer to in the legal field as free crimes." RP 49.

- Before this incident, not counting any current offenses, Mr. Velasquez had an offender score of 6.
- His conviction for count I scored as two points, making his offender score 8.
- When adding count one point for count II, his score increased to 9.

Consequently, his offender score only exceeded 9 when adding count III. Thus, the court was wrong when it concluded both counts II and III were "free crimes" for which Mr.

Velazquez was not being punished under the standard range.

RP 49.

If the record does not support the factual finding the court made to justify an exceptional sentence, the sentence should be reversed. RCW 9.94A.585(4); State v. Nordby, 106 Wn.2d 514, 517-18, 723 P.2d 1117 (1986); see State v. Williamson, 72 Wn. App. 619, 623, 866 P.2d 41 (1994) ("When the reasons supplied by a sentencing court for an exceptional sentence are clearly erroneous based on the factual record before it, the sentence must be reversed.").

Here, the reasons supplied by the court as the basis for the exceptional sentence are not supported by the record. RP 49. The court erroneously found both counts II and III were unpunished under the standard range, but in fact, Mr. Velazquez's offender score only exceeded "9" when adding count III, not for counts I and II.

The Court of Appeals simply disregarded the court's flawed factual basis for the exceptional sentence. Slip op. at 4-5. However, the legislature directed the reviewing court to reverse a sentence outside the standard range when "the reasons supplied by the sentencing court are not supported by the record which was before the judge . . . ." RCW 9.94A.585(4). The Court of Appeals decision ignoring the flawed factual basis of the

reasons the court supplied to impose an exception sentence conflicts with this statutory mandate.

The trial court's factual reasoning is also not supported by the record because the statutory maximum for count II, hit and run, is 60 months, which is what Mr. Velaquez would have received regardless of other current offenses. RCW 9A.20.021(1)(c). The court could not have imposed a longer sentence for count II than what the court actually imposed. The "free crimes" aggravating factor would not have applied to count II, contrary to the trial court's reasoning for imposing this exceptional sentence.

Finally, Mr. Velazquez's offender score rested on a multiplier that elevated his offender score. The trial court did not acknowledge or address the multipliers used for his current offenses of vehicular assault. Under RCW 9.94A.525(11), counts I and III, vehicular assault, scored as two points each, rather than one, giving him a score of "11" because of this multiplier.

A sentencing court must take into account the use of multipliers for the "free crimes" aggravating factor because the use of a multiplier to increase a person's offender score means the offenses are being counted in a person's offender score. See State v. Phelps, 2 Wash.App.2d 1051; 2018 WL 1151975, \*4 (2018) (unpublished, cited as non-binding authority under GR 14.1); see generally State v. France, 176 Wn. App. 463, 469, 308 P.3d 812 (2013).

In *Phelps*, the Court of Appeals reversed an exceptional sentence imposed based on the "free crimes" aggravator where the defendant's offender score for taking a motor vehicle without permission was elevated to 19, largely because his prior six convictions for similar offenses counted as three points each.

Phelps, 2018 WL 1151975 at \*3. Without the multiplier, he would have had an offender score of 6. This Court ruled that the current offenses were punished because it was the nature of those offenses that triggered the multiplier and left the defendant with an offender score of 19. *Id.* at \*4.

In *France*, the defendant was convicted of nine counts of felony harassment and had six prior convictions, giving him an offender score of 15. 176 Wn. App. at 466. The court imposed an exceptional sentence based on two aggravating factors: an officer of the court was a victim and some of the current offenses were

not punished under the standard range. *Id.* at 472-73. The Court of Appeals upheld this exceptional sentence, relying on the fact the standard range accounted for only three of the nine offenses of conviction.

Here, the sentencing court supplied factually incorrect reasons for treating two offenses as unpunished. It also ignored the multiplying effect of the vehicular offenses, and it never acknowledged that the multiplying effect showed the current offenses were being taken into account for purpose of punishment.

The factually inaccurate reasons for imposing a judgefound exceptional sentence requires this Court's intervention. It
is contrary to the statutory mandate and treads on the Sixth
Amendment right to have the jury find facts justifying the
imposition of additional punishment when the reasons the judge
gives for increasing the sentence are belied by the record. This
Court should grant review.

4. The "free crimes" aggravating factor does not authorize the court to impose punishment that is disproportionate to the standard range. The court's sentencing role is to carry out the legislative mandate. In re Pers. Restraint of Acron, 122 Wn. App. 886, 891, 95 P.3d 1272 (2004) (refusing to speculate about seriousness level for unranked offense because "[a]ppellate courts do not supply omitted language even when the legislature's omission is clearly inadvertent"). The legislative mandate includes proportionate sentences.

RCW 9.94A.535(2)(c) permits the court to impose an exceptional sentence when "some of the current offenses" are not punished by the standard range. (emphasis added). The statute does not say "one" or "any" offense above nine is grounds for an exceptional sentence. See, e.g., RCW 9.94A.537(6) (providing "one or more of the facts" found by the jury may support an exceptional sentence).

RCW 9.9A.535 further requires the court to justify the substantial and compelling reasons for imposing the added punishment considering the purpose of the SRA. *Allert*, 117 Wn.2d at 169 (explaining, "The SRA was designed to provide proportionate punishment" for adults in this state).

Here, the only reason the court gave, and only potentially legal available grounds, for an exceptional sentence was that Mr. Velazquez's offender score was "11," due to the two points allotted for a single count of vehicular homicide. But rather than incrementally increase the sentence as the standard range grid provided for an increased offender score, the court imposed almost double the high end of the standard range.

The sentencing grid enacted by the legislature treated each added point of criminal history as a reason to impose a few more months of punishment. The 120 month sentence the court imposed grossly exceeded the 68-month top of the standard range for a person with an offender score of 9 or more.

There is no compelling reason for disregarding the carefully crafted sentencing grid for an incremental increase in a person's offender score.

This Court should grant review to address the trial court's authority to use the multiple current offense aggravating factor as a basis for imposing a sentence that greatly exceeds the top of the standard range.

5. This Court should vacate the exceptional sentence because it is both legally and factually erroneous.

Where an exceptional sentence is not legally justified or is based on an improper reason for departing from the standard range, the exceptional sentence should be vacated. *Hayes*, 182
Wn.2d at 567. Here, the court misunderstood the nature of Mr.
Velazquez's offender score, incorrectly believed two offenses were unpunished under the standard range, and was unaware of the multiplier used to account for the offenses in the offender score. The exceptional sentence should be vacated and a new sentencing hearing ordered.

### F. CONCLUSION

Petitioner Socorro Velazquez respectfully requests that review be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b).