FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/16/2020 4:06 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 98248-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals No. 51906-2-II)

# STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

# SOCORRO VELAZQUZ,

Petitioner.

### **RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

On review from the Court of Appeals, Division One, And the Superior Court of Lewis County

> JONATHAN MEYER Lewis County Prosecuting Attorney

N

By:

Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSBA No. 35564

Lewis County Prosecutor's Office 345 W. Main Street, 2nd Floor Chehalis, WA 98532-1900 (360) 740-1240

# **

#### B. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES:

- 1. Due to Velazquez's offender score on his prior offenses being eight, was it proper for the trial court to consider the "free crimes" aggravator when it sentenced Velazquez?
- 2. Is the order the trial court rendered its sentence a factor to be considered when determining if the reasons given by the trial court justify the exceptional sentence or if the sentence was clearly erroneous?
- 3. Should this Court consider requiring a trial court to incrementally increase, or decrease, its sentence when it determines an exceptional sentence outside the standard range is appropriate?

#### C. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A red Saturn, driving approximately 12 to 14 miles per hour over the posted speed limit, collided with a white compact car occupied by two women. CP 4-6. The driver of the Saturn, later identified as Velazquez, yelled at a witness to call 911, and then fled the scene. CP 5-6. The driver of the white car, Judith Selmer, sustained broken bones and nerve damage as a result of the collision. CP 4-5. Both Ms. Selmer and the passenger, A.N., had to be airlifted due to their injuries. *Id.* 

The State charged Velazquez with Count I: Vehicular Assault, Count II: Hit and Run Injury, and Count III: Vehicular Assault. CP 7-9. The State and Velazquez came to a plea agreement. RP (4/11/18) 2-3; RP 2-4, 39-49; CP 10-21.<sup>1</sup> Velazquez did not dispute his offender score and stipulated to his criminal history, which consisted of six prior VUCSA convictions for possession of controlled substance, a residential burglary, and a bail jumping for a total of eight points. CP 22-23. Therefore, Velazquez's offender score and standard range for Counts I and III were 9+ (11), 51 to 68 months, and Count II was 9+ (12), 60 to 60 months. CP 23. The State recommended 68 months for Counts I and III and 60 months for Count II, all to run concurrent. RP 3-4. Velazquez's attorney concurred with the agreed recommendation. RP 45.

The victims, along with numbers of their friends and family, provided victim impact statements to the trial court. RP 5-38. All pleaded for the trial court to impose a sentence higher than the standard range. *Id.* The victim statements detailed how deeply

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> There are two verbatim report of proceedings. The sentencing and formal entry verbatim report of proceedings, dated 5/8/18 and 5/9/18 will be cited as RP. The other verbatim report of proceedings contain the plea hearing will include the date, 4/11/18.

affected the victims had been by the collision, mentally, physically, and emotionally, as well as their friends and family *Id.* 

After the victims and their supporters spoke, Velazquez's counsel, while commending many of the remarks also noted several of the statements made were not based in facts. RP 40-45. Velazquez's counsel requested the trial court disregard statements about Velazquez which were based upon speculation, Velazquez did not admit to, or were not proven. *Id.* 

The trial court imposed an exceptional sentence above the standard range. RP 46-47, 49-50. The trial court sentenced Velazquez to 60 months on each count, but ran Counts I and II consecutive to each other, for a total of 120 months. RP 47; CP 25-26. The trial court stated,

I believe that 68 months would not be enough to serve justice, and I'm not even sure that 120 months or 10 years is enough to serve justice, but I do want to recognize that Mr. Velazquez has taken some responsibility and has admitted to his violations and not put everybody through a trial and all of the havoc that that also wreaks.

RP 47. The State asked the trial court for the legal basis for the sentence so it may draft the requisite findings, and the trial court stated:

It's based on RCW 9.94A.535(2)(c). The defendant has committed multiple current offenses, and the

defendant's high offender score results in some of the current offenses going unpunished.

Without an exceptional sentence, even if I gave 68 months, that would not punish him for Count II or Count III, so those would be what we sometimes refer to in the legal field as free crimes.

RP 49. The trial court continued:

I find that there's substantial and compelling reasons, considering the purpose of the Sentencing Reform Act, to impose an exceptional sentence above the standard range, and that is by running those two consecutive.

RP 49-50.

Division Two affirmed the trial court's exceptional sentence, finding the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it applied the free crimes aggravator to Count III, the second Vehicular Assault charge, and sentenced Velazquez to consecutive 60 month sentences for a total of 120 months. *Velazquez*, slip op. at 2-5. The Court of Appeals also reversed the improperly imposed legal financial obligations. *Id.* at 5-6. Velazquez filed this petition for review regarding the exceptional sentence.

#### D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE ACCEPTED

The Court should not accept review in this case. The Court of Appeals affirmation of Velazquez's sentence does not invoke any of the considerations under RAP 13.4(b). Velazquez does not cite to a particular provisions of the considerations for review under RAP

13.4(b), instead Velazquez simply cites to the overarching statutory provision. See Petition for Review. Velazquez's petition for review only briefly touches on the Court of Appeals analysis of the case and focuses predominately on the trial court's ruling. Id. Velazquez premises his entire argument on the trial court misunderstanding his offender score, when it is Velazguez who appears to misunderstand the offender score. This Court should not accept review because the trial court's decision had a legal basis and was justifiable pursuant to the facts of this case. This Court should not accept review because the Court of Appeals did not commit error in its determination that the trial court's decision was not erroneous. There is not a conflict between the Court of Appeals decision and decisions from this Court or published decisions of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1)(2). This case does not raise a significant question of law, under either the United States Constitution or the Constitution of the State of Washington. RAP 13.4(b)(3). Finally, Velazquez's petition does not involve issues of substantial public interest this Court should determine. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

#### E. <u>ARGUMENT.</u>

Velazquez premises his argument to this Court on two basic principles. First, two of the counts could not be "free crimes" because his offender score was only six prior to the current convictions. Petition 11-19. Second, a judge must first state the legal authority for the exceptional sentence before any other statements regarding the sentence. Petition 8-10. Both of principles are incorrect and lead to faulty analysis and conclusions. Also, Velazquez asks this Court to review and find the trial court failed to adhere to an incremental proportionality standard that is contrary to the law. Therefore, this Court should deny the petition for review.<sup>2</sup>

1. The Trial Court Properly Considered Two Of The Counts "Free Crimes," As Velazquez's Offender Score Was Eight Prior To The Current Convictions.

Velazquez, the State, and the trial court all recognized that Velazquez's offender score was eight points before adding his current offenses due to Velazquez's eight prior felony offenses. RP (4/11/18) 3; RP 41, 47, 49; CP 22-23. None of the prior felonies washed and none were same criminal conduct.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The State is responding to Velazquez's petition as completely as it can discern the issues presented. The State's inadvertent failure to address an issue Velazquez or this Court finds Velazquez has requested review on should not to be considered a concession. If this Court accepts review, the State requests the opportunity to fully brief all issue identified and accepted for review.

Crime		Crime Date of Date Of Sentencin Crime Sent. Court		Sentencing Court	<u>A or J</u> Adult, Juv.	Type of Crime
1	VUCSA-POSS	1-9-13	4-19-13	LEWIS CO	А	NV
2	VUCSA-POSS	2-8-13	4-19-13	LEWIS CO	А	NV
3	RESIDENTIAL BURGLARY	7-9-09	10-1-09	LEWIS CO	А	NV
4	VUCSA-POSS	6-26-09	8-19-09	LEWIS CO	А	NV
5	VUCSA-POSS	6-1-09	8-19-09	LEWIS CO	А	NV
6	BAIL JUMPING	7-03-09	9-19-09	LEWIS CO	А	NV
7	VUCSA-POSS	8-6-05	8-12-05	LEWIS CO	А	NV
8	VUCSA-POSS	7-29-05	9-28-05	LEWIS CO	А	NV

CP 22-23.<sup>3</sup> Velazquez's attorney referenced these prior offenses when making his argument during the sentencing hearing. RP 41. Velazquez's sentencing ranges for each offenses was as follows:

Count No.	Offend er Score	Seriousn ess Level	Standard Range (not including enhancements)	<u>Total Standard</u> <u>Range</u> <u>(including</u> <u>enhancements)</u>	Max Term
I	9+ (11)	111	51-68 MONTHS	51-68 MONTHS	10 YRS
П	9+(12)	IV	60-60 MONTHS	60-60 MONTHS	10 YRS
Ш	9+(11)	III	51-68 MONTHS	51-68 MONTHS	10 YRS

CP 23;<sup>4</sup> RCW 9.94A.510; RCW 9.94A.515; RCW 9.94A.525; RCW 46.52.020(4)(b); RCW 46.61.522(1)(c); Adult Sentencing Manual, 348, 493 (2017).<sup>5</sup> The number in the parentheses, in the table, is the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The State removed one of the columns from the table as presented in the Stipulation on Prior Record and Offender Score (DV\* Yes) and shortened some of the headings to make the table fit. The substantive content is still the same.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The State removed the "Plus enhancements \*" column for formatting purposes, as there were no enhancements and it was not necessary.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> A copy of the 2017 Adult Sentencing Guidelines Manual is available on the Washington State Caseload Forecast Council website at

http://www.cfc.wa.gov/PublicationSentencing/SentencingManual/Adult\_Sentencing\_M anual\_2017.pdf (last visited 7/15/20); The State has also included the two sentencing

total score including the multiplying factor. CP 23; Adult Sentencing Manual, 348, 493 (2017). Without the multiplying factor each count would be 10 points (9+). *Id.* 

Velazquez states in his petition that his offender score, not counting any of his current offenses, was six prior to this incident. Petition at 12. Velazquez then states his offender score in Count I only exceeds nine when Count III is added. *Id.* Velazquez adds points to his offender score for Count I as follows: 2 points for Count I, 1 point for Count II, and 2 points for Count III, a total of 5 points plus the 6 original, totaling 11 points. *Id.* This is simply incorrect. A current criminal count does not score against itself, it is only the other current offenses that score against it. RCW 9.94A.525; Adult Sentencing Manual, 348, 493 (2017).

Velazquez had eight prior felony convictions that were included in his offender score. CP 22-23. Regardless of any multiplier, one other conviction raises one of the three counts to nine points, the top of the range. This leaves the other two counts as potential free crimes.

worksheets as Appendix B (Hit and Run Injury) and C (Vehicular Assault, Disregard for the Safety of Others).

Pursuant to what is commonly referred to as the "free crimes" aggravator, the trial court may depart from the standard range without a jury finding, if "[t]he defendant has committed multiple current offenses and the defendant's high offender score results in some of the current offenses going unpunished." RCW 9.94A.535(2)(c). Contrary to Velazguez's argument, he does not have to have an offender score of nine prior to the current offenses for the trial court to consider and impose an exceptional sentence under the free crimes aggravator. State v. Brundage, 126 Wn. App. 55, 65-69, 107 P.3d 742 (2005). In Brundage, the defendant had eight points prior to his convictions. Brundage, 126 Wn. App. at 67. Brundage was convicted of 11 offenses, including seven violations of a court order, rape in the second degree, rape in the first degree, kidnapping in the second degree, unlawful possession of a firearm, and seven counts of violation of a court order. Id. at 60. The kidnapping merged with the rape in the first degree. Id., fn. 3. The Court of Appeals determined that the unlawful possession of a firearm added a point, making Brundage's offender score nine, and therefore, if a standard range sentence had been imposed on the second degree rape conviction that count would have gone unpunished. *Id.* at 67. Thus, only through an exceptional sentence

9

could the trial court ensure that Brundage did not receive a 'free crime.'" *Id.* 

The same is true for Velazquez. It did not require a multiplier to have the second Vehicular Assault conviction be a "free crime." The record does support the factual and legal findings given by the trial court to support the exceptional sentence. The Court of Appeals understood the trial court's ruling was not erroneous and affirmed. The understanding of the offender score does not conflict with cases out of any court, nor does it invoke a significant question of constitutional law, or involve a substantial public interest this Court should determine. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4). This matter should not be reviewed.

 The Order The Trial Court Renders Its Sentence Is Not A Factor In The Determination Of Whether The Sentence Was Clearly Erroneous Or The Reasons Given Do Not Justify The Exceptional Sentence, Therefore The Court Of Appeal Did Not Error When It Affirmed Velazquez's Exceptional Sentence.

Velazquez takes issues with the trial court's statements prior to imposing the exceptional sentence. Petition. 8-10. It appears from his petition (and the briefing in the Court of Appeals below) that it is Velazquez's position that for an exceptional sentence based upon "free crimes" to be lawful a judge must simply state, "[T]he high offender score leaves some of the counts to go unpunished, so I am imposing this sentence." *Id.* Yet, if a judge were to impose a sentence in such a fashion, there is no doubt a defendant would argue this pronouncement was in violation of the plain language of RCW 9.94A.535 and the sentence must be vacated.

A court must consider the purpose of the SRA, and find "there are substantial and compelling reasons justifying an exceptional sentence" if it is going to "impose a sentence outside the standard sentencing range for an offense." RCW 9.94A.535. The fact that a "defendant has committed multiple current offenses and the defendant's high offender score results in some of the current offenses going unpunished" is just one piece of the statutory authority necessary for the trial court to be able to impose the exceptional sentence. RCW 9.94A.535(2)(c); State v. Ferguson, 142 Wn.2d 631, 643-44, 15 P.3d 1271 (2001). The trial court is required to consider the reasons set forth in RCW 9.94A.010, which state the purpose of the Sentencing Reform Act. Therefore, keeping with the obligation of being accountable to the public, the trial court, through his brief comments, took into account the considerations listed when determining if there was a substantial and compelling reason to justify sentencing Velazquez to an exceptional sentence. RP 46-47.

11

There are two counts of vehicular assault, two victims, both of whom spoke at the sentencing hearing detailing their experience, thoughts, and desire for Velazquez to serve a consecutive sentence beyond the 68-month recommendation. RP 5-14, 19-22. The trial court is required to consider the victims statements. RCW 9.94A.500(1). The trial court stated it did not believe 68 months would be enough to serve justice, or that even 10 years would be sufficient, be it did want to recognize that Velazquez has taken some responsibility for his actions. RP 47. The after hearing all of the statements the trial court concluded the standard range was not sufficient, does meet the purposes of the SRA, and in light of the fact one of the offenses would go unpunished, is a substantial and compelling reason for the trial court. RCW 9.94A.010. That the trial court failed to articulate on the record, until prompted by the deputy prosecutor, the precise bases for the trial court ruling, does not mean the ruling was somehow based upon improper grounds. See RP 49. The trial court simply failed to articulate prior to stating the sentence, the explicit legal grounds for which it was basing its sentence. There is no required order of operation for the pronouncement of a trial court's exceptional sentence. See RCW 9.94A.535.

The Court of Appeals correctly noted the trial court followed the requirements of RCW 9.94.535 by considering the purposes of the SRA, RCW 9.94A.010(2). The trial court supplied the factual and legal requirements to support the exceptional sentence during Velazquez's sentencing hearing. The Court of Appeals did not error when it affirmed the trial court's exceptional sentence. Therefore, none of the consideration for review are met. RAP 13.4(b).

3. There Is No Incremental Increase Requirement For Exceptional Sentences.

Velazquez argues the standard sentencing grids were carefully crafted and there is no compelling reason when an exceptional sentence is ordered to disregard an incremental increase to a defendant's offender score. Petition 18. Velazquez appears to be advocating for this Court to create a judicial rule that strips the trial court of its discretion to fashion an appropriate sentence for a person whom the court determines an exceptional sentence is warranted. The State would caution that this rule would be equally applicable to mitigated sentences, not simply exceptional sentences above the standard range.

The SRA does not eliminate a trial court's discretion. RCW 9.94A.010; RCW 9.94A.535. If the trial court determines the standard range does not promote the purpose of the SRA, there is substantial

and compelling reasons to impose the exceptional sentence, an aggravating factor applies as a matter of law, then "the trial court has all but unbridled discretion in fashioning the structure and length of an exceptional sentence." *State v. France*, 176 Wn. App. 463, 470, 308 P.3d 812 (2013) (internal quotations and citations omitted). If the legislature wanted to require an incremental departure from the standard range, it would have included that directive in RCW 9.94A.535. This Court should decline Velazquez's invitation to accept review to create such a rule. RAP 13.4(b)(4)

F. CONCLUSION

The State respectfully requests this Court not accept review on the issues Velazquez raised in his petition for review.

If this Court were to accept review, the State would respectfully request an opportunity to submit supplemental briefing.